## TITLE 1

# GENERAL ADMINISTRATION<sup>1</sup>

## **CHAPTER**

- 1. BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN.
- 2. MAYOR.
- 3. RECORDER.
- 4. TREASURER.
- 5. TOWN ADMINISTRATOR.
- 6. CODE OF ETHICS.
- 7. MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS.

## **CHAPTER 1**

# BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN<sup>2</sup>

#### **SECTION**

- 1-101. Time and place of regular meetings.
- 1-102. Order of business.
- 1-103. General rules of order.
- 1-104. Compensation for the board of mayor and aldermen.
- 1-101. <u>Time and place of regular meetings</u>. The board of mayor and aldermen shall hold regular monthly meetings at 6:00 P.M. on the second Monday of each month at the town hall. If the regular meeting falls on a holiday, or on a day observed as a holiday, the regular meeting shall be held at the same time and place on the next regular work day. (2005 Code, § 1-101, modified)
- **1-102.** Order of business. At each meeting of the board of mayor and aldermen, the following regular order of business shall be observed unless dispensed with by a majority vote of the members present:

Fire department: title 7.

Utilities: title 18.

Wastewater treatment: title 18.

Zoning: title 14.

<sup>2</sup>Charter references

Compensation, qualifications, etc.: § 6.

Elections: § 8. Meetings: § 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Municipal code references

- (1) Call to order by the mayor.
- (2) Roll call by the recorder.
- (3) Amendment and approval of agenda.
- (4) Reading of minutes of the previous meeting by the recorder, and approval or correction.
  - (5) Citizen input.
  - (6) Communications from the mayor.
- (7) Reports from committees, members of the board of mayor and aldermen, and other officers.
  - (8) Old business.
  - (9) New business.
  - (10) Adjournment. (2005 Code, § 1-102)
- **1-103.** <u>General rules of order</u>. (1) The rules of order and parliamentary procedure contained in *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*, shall govern the transaction of business by and before the board of mayor and aldermen at its meetings in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with provisions of the charter or this code.
- (2) Questions regarding procedure and interpretation of rules of order shall be directed to the town attorney if present. If the town attorney is not present, the mayor shall answer questions of procedure and interpretation of *Robert's Rules of Order*. The ruling of either the town attorney or mayor stands unless overruled by a majority of the board. (2005 Code, § 1-103)
- **1-104.** Compensation for the board of mayor and aldermen. The mayor and aldermen shall be paid a salary of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) per month. (2005 Code, § 1-104, modified)

# MAYOR<sup>1</sup>

## **SECTION**

- 1-201. Duties of mayor.
- 1-202. Executes town's contracts.
- **1-201. Duties of mayor**. The mayor shall perform such duties as provided by the charter and any ordinances duly enacted by the board of mayor and aldermen consistent with the charter. (2005 Code, § 1-201)
- **1-202.** Executes town's contracts. The mayor shall execute all contracts as authorized by the board of mayor and aldermen. (2005 Code, § 1-202)

<sup>1</sup>Charter references

Compensation:  $\S$  6.

Election: § 8.

Powers and duties: § 14. Qualifications for office: § 6.

# RECORDER<sup>1</sup>

## **SECTION**

1-301. To be bonded.

1-302. To keep minutes, etc.

**1-301.** <u>To be bonded</u>. The recorder shall be bonded in such sum as may be fixed by resolution of the board of mayor and aldermen. (2005 Code, § 1-301)

**1-302.** To keep minutes, etc. The recorder shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the board of mayor and aldermen and shall preserve the original copy of all ordinances in a separate ordinance book. The recorder shall also have custody of and be responsible for maintaining all corporate bonds, records, and papers. (2005 Code, § 1-302)

Bond, compensation, duties: § 25.

## TREASURER<sup>1</sup>

## **SECTION**

1-401. To be bonded.

1-402. Duties.

- **1-401.** To be bonded. The treasurer shall execute a bond in a sum fixed by the board, conditioned upon the faithful and honest performance of the duties of the office. (2005 Code, § 1-401)
  - **1-402. Duties**. The treasurer shall perform the following duties:
- (1) Receive and receipt for taxes and other revenues and bonds of the town;
- (2) Have charge of all monies of the town and keep account of all funds of whatever kind which may come into his hands;
  - (3) Exercise general supervision over the fiscal affairs of the town;
- (4) Have custody of all papers, records, and vouchers relating to the fiscal affairs of the town;
- (5) Have general accounting supervision over all the town's property, assets and disposition thereof;
- (6) Keep records showing the financial operation and condition, property, assets, claims and liabilities of the town, all expenditures authorized, and all contracts in which the town is interested; and
- (7) Perform other duties as provided in the charter or by ordinance. (2005 Code, § 1-402)

<sup>1</sup>Charter reference Treasurer: § 24.

## **TOWN ADMINISTRATOR**

## **SECTION**

1-501. Administration of municipal business.

- **1-501.** <u>Administration of municipal business</u>. The town administrator shall perform the following duties:
  - (1) Administer the business of the town;
- (2) Employ, direct, control, supervise, discipline, suspend, discharge and terminate all employees of the town, except those appointed by the board, in accordance with policies and procedures adopted by the board; provided, however, a discharged or terminated employee shall have the right to appeal such discharge or termination to the board, pursuant to procedures established by the board;
- (3) Issue, or cause to be issued, licenses and permits on behalf of the town:
- (4) Act as purchasing agent for the town in the purchase of all materials, supplies and equipment for the proper conduct of town business; provided, all purchases shall be made in accordance with policies, procedures and practices approved or established by the board and state law;
- (5) Make recommendations to the board for improving the quality and quantity of public service to be rendered by the town to its citizens;
- (6) Keep the board and its members advised as to the condition and needs of the town;
- (7) Report to the board the condition of the town's property and recommend repairs and replacements as needed not in the budget;
- (8) Recommend to the board the priority of programs or projects involving public works or improvements that should be undertaken by the town;
  - (9) Recommend the creation or abolishment of personnel positions:
  - (10) Regularly attend board meetings; and
- (11) Perform such other duties as may from time to time be designated or required by the board. (2005 Code, § 1-501)

## **CODE OF ETHICS**

## **SECTION**

- 1-601. Applicability and interpretation.
- 1-602. Definitions.
- 1-603. Disclosure of personal interest by official with vote.
- 1-604. Disclosure of personal interest in nonvoting matters.
- 1-605. Acceptance of gifts, gratuities, etc.
- 1-606. Use of information.
- 1-607. Use of municipal time, facilities, etc.
- 1-608. Use of position or authority.
- 1-609. Ethics opinions; complaints; investigations.
- 1-610. Violations and penalty.
- 1-601. <u>Applicability and interpretation</u>. (1) This chapter establishes the code of ethics for the town and applies to all full-time and part-time elected or appointed officials and employees, whether compensated or not, including those of any separate board, commission, committee, authority, corporation or other instrumentality appointed or created by the town. The words "city," "town" and "municipal" are interchangeable and shall include these separate entities. When a violation of this code of ethics also constitutes a violation of a personnel policy, rule, or regulation, the violation shall be dealt with as a violation of the personnel provisions. In any situation in which a personal interest is also a conflict of interest under state law, the more restrictive provision shall apply.
- (2) The interpretation that a reasonable person in the circumstances would apply shall be used in interpreting and enforcing this code of ethics. (2005 Code, § 1-601)
- **1-602. Definitions**. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning.
  - (1) "Censure" means an expression of severe criticism or reproach.
- (2) "Credible," for the purposes of complaints alleging that any official or employee has violated any provision of this chapter, means that the complaint is not:
  - (a) Submitted anonymously.
  - (b) Clearly unbelievable.
  - (c) From a source not considered to be trustworthy under the circumstances.
- (3) "Employment interest" includes a situation in which an official or employee or a designated family member is employed with or negotiating

possible employment with a person or organization that is the subject of a vote or that is to be regulated or supervised.

- (4) "Gift" means the transfer of anything of economic value, regardless of form, without reasonable consideration. "Gift" may include a subscription, membership, loan, forgiveness of debt, advance or deposit of money or anything of value, conveyed or transferred. "Gift" does not include political campaign contributions which are solicited or accepted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
- (5) "Official" means the members of the board of mayor and aldermen, as well as members appointed thereby to town boards, commissions, committees, authorities, corporations or instrumentalities established by law or by this code. "Official" also includes the town judge.
  - (6) "Personal interest" means:
  - (a) Any financial, ownership or employment interest in the subject of a vote by a municipal board not otherwise regulated by state statutes on conflicts of interests;
  - (b) Any financial, ownership or employment interest in a matter to be regulated or supervised; or
  - (c) Any such financial, ownership or employment interest of the official's or employee's immediate family. For the purposes of this chapter, "immediate family" includes spouse, children (including natural, step and adoptive), parents (including natural, step and adoptive), siblings, parents-in-law, siblings-in-law, grandparents and grandchildren, and any other individual residing within the employee's household who is a legal dependent of the employee for income tax purposes. (2005 Code, § 1-602)
- 1-603. Disclosure of personal interest by official with vote. An official with the responsibility to vote on a measure shall disclose during the meeting at which the vote takes place, before the vote and so it appears in the minutes, any personal interest that affects or that would lead a reasonable person to infer that it affects the official's vote on the measure. In addition, the official may recuse himself from voting on the measure. (2005 Code, § 1-603)
- 1-604. Disclosure of personal interest in nonvoting matters. An official or employee who must exercise discretion relative to any matter, other than casting a vote, and who has a personal interest in the matter that affects or that would lead a reasonable person to infer that it affects the exercise of discretion shall disclose the interest, before the exercise of the discretion when possible, on a form provided by and filed with the town recorder. Copies of such forms filed with the town recorder shall be provided to the town administrator and, in the case of an employee, filed in the employee's personnel file. In addition, the official or employee may, to the extent allowed by law, charter,

ordinance, or policy, recuse himself from the exercise of discretion in the matter. (2005 Code, § 1-604)

- **1-605.** Acceptance of gifts, gratuities, etc. (1) An official or employee may not accept, directly or indirectly, any money, gift, gratuity, or other consideration or favor of any kind from anyone other than the town:
  - (a) For the performance of an act, or refraining from performance of an act, that the individual would be expected to perform, or refrain from performing, in the regular course of the individual's duties; or
  - (b) That might reasonably be interpreted as an attempt to influence the individual's action, or reward the individual for past action, in executing municipal business.
- (2) Unless impartiality and independent judgment of an official or employee would be compromised, this section shall not apply to meals provided to officials or employees or gifts of food, candy or other consumable items. (2005 Code, § 1-605)
- **1-606.** <u>Use of information</u>. (1) An official or employee may not disclose any information obtained in his official capacity or position of employment that is made confidential under state or federal law except as authorized by law.
- (2) An official or employee may not use or disclose information obtained in his official capacity or position of employment and not available to the general public with the intent to result in financial gain for himself or any other person or entity. (2005 Code, § 1-606)
- 1-607. <u>Use of municipal time, facilities, etc</u>. An official or employee may not use or authorize the use of municipal time, facilities, equipment, supplies or other resources for private gain or advantage to himself or to any private person or entity, except as authorized by legitimate contract or lease that is determined by the board of mayor and aldermen to be in the best interests of the town. This prohibition shall not apply when the board of mayor and aldermen or other appropriate board, commission or committee has authorized the use of such resources and established policies governing such use. (2005 Code, § 1-607)
- **1-608.** <u>Use of position or authority</u>. (1) An official or employee may not make or attempt to make private purchases, for cash or otherwise, in the name of the town; provided, however, that this section shall not apply to reasonable amounts paid for:
  - (a) Food, transportation, lodging and other travel expenses incurred in accordance with the town's adopted travel policy.
  - (b) Dues, registrations, meals and similar expenses incurred in conjunction with membership or participation in a professional or

community organization to which the official or employee belongs in his official capacity.

- (c) Meals purchased in the course of an official business meeting conducted on the town's behalf.
- (2) An official or employee may not use or attempt to use his position to secure any privilege or exemption for himself or others that is not authorized in this chapter or by the charter, general law, or ordinance or policy of the town.
- (3) No official or employee shall provide commercial or advertising endorsements in such a manner as to convey the town's approval of any private for-profit enterprise; provided, however, that an official or employee may respond to inquiries seeking information as to the town's experience with a vendor or other private enterprise. (2005 Code, § 1-608)
- 1-609. Ethics opinions; complaints; investigations. (1) Ethics officer. The town attorney is designated as the ethics officer of the town. The town attorney, in his discretion, may request the town administrator or board of mayor and aldermen appoint another attorney, individual or entity to act as ethics officer for the purposes of any specific investigation. For complaints considered by the board of mayor and aldermen under the provisions of this section, the board of mayor and aldermen may choose an individual or entity other than the town attorney to act as the ethics officer for the purposes of investigating the complaint.
- (2) <u>Ethics opinions</u>. Upon the written request of an official or employee potentially affected by a provision of this chapter, the ethics officer may render an oral or written advisory ethics opinion based upon this chapter and other applicable law.
- (3) <u>Ethics complaints and investigations</u>. Allegations that any official or employee has violated any provision of this chapter will be processed and handled as follows:
  - (a) A complaint will be acted upon only if the complaint is in writing, signed by the person making the complaint and submitted to:
    - (i) The ethics officer, if the complaint is against any employee other than the town administrator or the ethics officer.
    - (ii) The town administrator, if the complaint is against the ethics officer or any official.
    - (iii) The mayor, if the complaint is against the town administrator.
  - (b) The ethics officer shall investigate any credible written complaint against an employee, other than the town administrator or the ethics officer.
  - (c) When a complaint is filed against the town administrator, the ethics officer, an appointed official or a member of the board of mayor and aldermen, the complaint shall be referred to the board of mayor and aldermen. For any such complaint, other than a complaint against the

town administrator, the town administrator may gather information and present pertinent facts to assist the board of mayor and aldermen in its determination. The board of mayor and aldermen, by majority vote of its entire membership, shall determine that the complaint is credible and that a violation of this chapter has occurred, that the complaint is not credible or does not have merit, or that the complaint has sufficient merit to warrant further investigation; except that if the complaint is filed against a member of the board of mayor and aldermen, the disposition of the complaint shall be determined by a majority vote of the remaining members of the board of mayor and aldermen. If the board of mayor and aldermen determines that a complaint warrants further investigation, it shall authorize an investigation by the ethics officer, provided that the board of mayor and aldermen may choose an individual or entity other than the town attorney to act as the ethics officer for the purposes of the investigation.

- (d) The ethics officer may also undertake an investigation on his own initiative when he acquires information indicating reasonable suspicion of a violation.
- (e) Any person who is the subject of an investigation by the ethics officer shall be notified in writing at the beginning of the investigation and allowed the opportunity to respond to all allegations in person and/or in writing during the course of the investigation.
- (f) In the course of an investigation, the ethics officer, at his discretion, may hold meetings and conduct interviews in person or by telephone, involving officials and employees of the town, as well as other individuals. The ethics officer may also request any information that he believes may be pertinent to the investigation. An employee's failure to cooperate in any investigation by the ethics officer shall be considered an act of insubordination and treated as such under the town's personnel rules and regulations.
- (g) At the conclusion of an investigation, the ethics officer may issue written findings and make recommendations for action to end or seek remedies for any activity that, in the ethics officer's judgment, constitutes a violation of this code of ethics. For an investigation of any employee other the town administrator, copies of such findings and recommendations shall be provided to the employee, the town administrator and the employee's department head. For an investigation of any other individual, copies of such findings and recommendations shall be provided to the town administrator, the board of mayor and aldermen and the individual who is the subject of the investigation. (2005 Code, § 1-609)
- **1-610.** <u>Violations and penalty</u>. (1) A member of the board of mayor and aldermen who violates any provision of this chapter is subject to

punishment as provided by the town's charter and/or other applicable law, and in addition is subject to censure by the board of mayor and aldermen. Any action taken by the board of mayor and aldermen against a member of the board of mayor and aldermen shall be determined by a majority vote of the remaining members of the board of mayor and aldermen.

- (2) An official other than a member of the board of mayor and aldermen who violates any provision of this chapter is subject to punishment as provided by the town's charter and/or other applicable law. In addition, the board of mayor and aldermen may, by majority vote of its entire membership, censure the official or remove the official from office in such manner as may be permitted by law.
- (3) In addition to any other remedy provided by law, an employee who violates any provision of this chapter is subject to disciplinary action, in accordance with the town's personnel rules and regulations, including but not limited to dismissal. (2005 Code, § 1-610)

# MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS

# **SECTION**

1-701. Eligible non-resident property owners; absentee ballot.

**1-701.** Eligible non-resident property owners; absentee ballot. In accord with *Tennessee Code Annotated*, § 2-6-205, the Town of Chapel Hill, Tennessee non-resident property owners shall cast their municipal ballots as absentee mail ballots. (Ord. #2018-03, \_\_\_\_\_)